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PROLOGUE

MY ANCESTORS JAMES BRADLEY and Sarah Barnes were transported as convicts to the land we now call Australia from England on the First and Third Fleets respectively. They were my great-great-great-grandparents.1

Their eighth child, my great-great-grandfather Joseph, was born in 1809 at Kissing Point, now Putney, near Ryde in New South Wales, the traditional land of the Wallumedegal clan of the Eora Nation. He spent most of his working life in the most dangerous occupation at the time, whaling.

Joseph Bradley’s sixth child, my great-grandfather Roland Robert Bradley, was born in 1862 at Triangle Swamp, near Mudgee, New South Wales. He became an officer in the shipping industry and involved himself in unionism and politics. Joseph and Roland each kept journals that were rich in history.

Between 1852 and 1854, Joseph wrote three extraordinary accounts of his shipping days, which were published around 1860 by JJ Beukers in Parramatta. The book was donated to the John Oxley Library within the State Library of Queensland in 1988.2

Roland recorded his account in 1894, a few months after surviving a shipwreck ordeal, in a journal that was passed down through the generations. His journal was donated to the National Library of Australia in 2013.3

I learned with pride that my forebears didn’t sit back and go along for the ride. Rather, they felt strongly enough to defend the rights of their fellow man and woman when circumstances arose. There were many men and women in Australia’s history who fought similar battles, which allows modern Australia to enjoy the freedoms it does.

However, the birth of this new nation came at the devastating loss of a dramatic percentage of the Indigenous peoples, cultures, wildlife and environment.

Over the course of two generations, the Bradleys shook off the shame of convict beginnings and achieved middle-class respectability. The family progressed from a life of struggle and subsistence farming to a relatively comfortable lifestyle in suburban Sydney.

Convicts James and Sarah were uneducated and illiterate, yet their son Joseph received enough education for him to write a journal, and Roland was schooled to the extent that he could eloquently express himself in public and represent powerful bodies in the community.

I was determined to share their stories with a wider audience. As my research progressed, I developed a deeper understanding and appreciation of the life and times of colonial Australia, and the roles played by my ancestors.

The aim in writing this book was to intertwine the many well-known and not so well-known events in Australia’s early history with my family’s history and their exciting tales.

As the story of a father, son and grandson, this history is unique.

To write this book, I have used my own research and my ancestors’ journals, and often mused at their emotions and thoughts. I have included this detail in the story, though I recognise it can’t be proven. However, I have included these details as I believe they add value to the story and the memory of my ancestors.


Chapter One

JAMES’S TRIAL

ON 29 JUNE 1785 at London’s central criminal court, the Old Bailey, 21-year-old James Bradley stood before Mr Justice Buller and a Middlesex jury, accused of stealing a white linen handkerchief. The property of Robert Thornton, Esq, its value was two shillings.

ROBERT THORNTON sworn.

‘I was coming up Chancery Lane the eighth of June about four, and just by one of the courts I felt somebody put a hand in my pocket. I had just wiped my face before, the prisoner pushed between me and the palisadoes, I caught him by the collar, he endeavoured to escape.’

GUILTY.

‘To be transported for seven years, to such a place or places, as his Majesty with the advice of his Privy Council shall think fit to declare and appoint.’4


Chapter Two

LIFE ON THE HULK

AT THE TIME of his conviction, James Bradley was a small-time thief who preyed on the pedestrians of London. He lived in a Chancery Lane basement with a group of thieves who mostly worked independently, carrying a small knife to slice the pocket of their prey, hoping to snatch a wallet or a watch. Even a handkerchief was worth something. Choosing crowded public places such as theatres, market stalls and puppet shows to carry out their crimes, they would later trade their gains for gin, a cheap and plentiful drink that was a staple among London’s poor.

Crime was rampant. Small farmers who had recently lost the right to farm on common land had moved to London in search of work, and since the end of the American War of Independence in 1783, the return of thousands of soldiers and sailors had led to even more congestion in the city. With the loss of America as a destination for the imprisoned criminals of England, English gaols were at bursting point.

I found no birth records for James. I do not know where he grew up, if he had siblings, what his parents did for a living or where they lived. I don’t believe that James was deliberately estranged from his family. It is more likely that his parents had died, given that the median age of death in 1865 England was 41.5 years. I have no doubt they were loving parents for James’s formative years, and it is likely that James grew up on a farm, given his propensity for farming.

Being illiterate and uneducated, James’s prospects in eighteenth century London were grim. He could continue his life of crime and hope to escape the noose, or find work in a shop, in a factory, or down at the docks. Either way, his chances of living a long life were low as the dirty, insanitary and polluted conditions of London bred disease and ill health. Such was the smog that candles had to be lit in shops during the day to provide light.

From the courts of the Old Bailey, James was escorted in shackles onto a receiving hulk, a floating prison, for four or five days. He was washed, inspected and issued with clothing, blankets, and mess mugs and plates. From there he was sent to a convict hulk where he was assigned to a work gang. He was to stay there for the next two years.

The hulk, a decommissioned warship named the Ceres, was permanently moored on the Thames, in the London district of Woolwich. It was safer and healthier than London’s most notorious gaol, the Newgate Prison, which was situated just around the corner from the Old Bailey. Newgate was a horrendous, privately owned and corrupt institution from which very few prisoners came out alive. The prisoners within could improve their existence by bribing the guards, but this did not guarantee their survival as the typhus-carrying lice and fleas that infested the prison did not discriminate between the haves and the have-nots.

Duncan Campbell, who had been in the business of convict transportation for the previous twenty-five years, owned the Ceres. Campbell was paid by the English government for every convict housed in his hulks. With this payment he clothed, fed and provided accommodation for the convicts. Their diet consisted of biscuits, ox cheek, pea soup, porridge, bread, cheese and the occasional beer. Two prisoners shared a six-by-four-foot straw mattress for a bed, which was rolled up during the day. The convicts received good clothing and medical assistance when required. They remained healthy and free from disease apart from an occasional outbreak of typhus.5

The prisoners were taken from the hulk during the day to work on the river Thames where they dredged for sand and gravel that was used to build roads, wharves, moats and ditches. They worked an eleven-hour day during the warmer months, and six hours over the colder months. Hard-working and well-behaved prisoners under the age of eighteen or over forty were sometimes granted their freedom.

James was anxious to learn when and where he was to be transported to, but feared he may see out his days on the Ceres. He knew America was no longer an option. By the end of 1786 though, rumours abounded that transportation was imminent. Still, they had no idea where. He dreaded the idea of going to West Africa: the British government had transported 746 convicts to Gambia in 1775, but they all perished from disease or deserted and met an unfortunate fate.

In August 1786, after rejecting Das Voltas Bay on the south-west coast of Africa as an alternative, William Pitt’s government settled on the place Captain Cook had visited in 1770 and named Botany Bay, in the region he had named New South Wales and had claimed on behalf of the British government.

The government deemed that such a location would not only alleviate the pressure on their overcrowded gaols, it would also provide a strategic outpost against Britain’s enemies – France and Spain – and a base for trade with China and Russia.6

Arthur Phillip, at the age of forty-nine, was appointed captain-general of the expedition to New South Wales, and governor of the new settlement to be established there. Many people within government and naval circles were surprised when he won the post because they had not regarded him as a man with high prospects.

Phillip had a strong sense of humanity, which would prove vital for the survival of the convicts over the coming years. He was also a meticulous planner with sound diplomacy skills, a strict sense of discipline, great honesty and common sense.


[image: image]

ARTHUR PHILLIP ESQ, VICE ADMIRAL OF THE RED SQUADRON BY FRANCIS WHEATLEY AND W SHERWIN (ENGRAVER), PUBLISHED 1812.

Courtesy of Peter Bradley.



Phillip’s commission provided him with total authority in the planned settlement, including the power to establish a civil and military court and appoint justices of the peace, coroners, constables and other officers. He had the power to pass sentence on criminals, to pardon, to impose fines, and to control trade. For convict men who had served out their terms, Phillip was to grant 30 acres of land to each, free of fees, taxes and quitrents for ten years. They were also to receive food for a year and an assortment of tools and equipment, plus grain to grow crops and some farm animals.7

The instructions he received from King George III were to colonise the uninhabited Norfolk Island as soon as they arrived so as to prevent another country – like France – from establishing a power base so close to their settlement. He was to explore the coast of the mainland and to develop a kind and friendly relationship with the native population.8

Captain John Hunter was appointed second-in-command and Major Robert Ross was commandant of the marines who accompanied the fleet.

Dissatisfied with the preparations for the voyage, Phillip refused to set sail on the scheduled date in December, which delayed departure by over four months.

On 13 January 1787, James was moved from the Ceres to another hulk, the Justitia, where he spent the next several weeks. At the end of February he and his fellow convicts were taken by wagon to Portsmouth, where they were transferred onto transport ships, James to the Scarborough. Records show that there was another James Bradley who had been convicted of stealing a handkerchief in May 1785 and sentenced to seven years’ transportation. He was transferred to the Alexander, but died before the First Fleet set sail for New South Wales.

The prisons on each of the transport ships were on the lowest cargo deck. Narrow bunks, known as cradles, ran the length of the ship in sets of four to six with an aisle down the middle. Conditions were cramped – they couldn’t stand straight as the height was only four feet five inches – and a rank stench permeated the lower deck due to the lack of fresh air. The convicts were chained together in pairs and lived in virtual darkness as no candles could be lit because of the fire risk.9

Only one English ship had ever ventured as far as New South Wales before. It was a vast unknown. James had mixed feelings about what lay ahead, from eager anticipation to apprehension and worry. Would he die on the voyage? Would the ship lose her way or sink? Once they made land would they be abandoned and left to fend for themselves?


Chapter Three

THE FIRST FLEET VOYAGE TO BOTANY BAY

AT PORTSMOUTH THE CONVICTS waited below deck for another two and a half months until finally, on 12 May 1787, the First Fleet set sail. James was among 201 male convicts, 80 marines and crew on board the Scarborough, which was under the command of Master John Marshall. At 420 tons, this three-masted cargo ship was the second largest of the transport ships of the fleet, measuring 33.8 metres long by 9.1 metres wide.10

It was not long before proceedings came to a premature halt, anchors were dropped and again, everyone waited. A last-minute dispute had arisen between the marines and the ships’ masters over marines not being advanced wages to buy goods for the voyage. Phillip spent the day resolving the issue.

The next day, 13 May 1787, well before the sun was up, assisted by light south-easterly winds, the long journey to Botany Bay recommenced as the fleet of eleven ships slowly made their way past the Needles to the English Channel.

The fleet consisted of two naval vessels, HMS Sirius and HM Brig Supply, and six transport ships, the Alexander, Friendship, Scarborough, Prince of Wales, Charlotte and Lady Penrhyn. Three store ships, the Borrowdale, Golden Grove and Fishburn, carried enough supplies, tools and equipment to last two years.11

A total of 1,406 people, including 247 marines and 32 of their wives and 14 children, 323 crew, 15 officials and 775 convicts (582 male and 193 female) were on the First Fleet.

The most common convictions were for stealing food or other small items, burglary, breaking and entering, and highway robbery. The convicts, who included about fifteen Jewish people, originated mainly from England, but one-tenth were Irish and around fifty were from the Channel Islands, Scotland, Wales, North America, the West Indies, possibly Africa, and several European countries.12

The first few days of sailing were slow going, especially for the Charlotte and the Lady Penrhyn, which straggled at the rear. Poor weather and high seas increased the discomfort of the convicts, who had already been confined for months. Most of the men were seasick and the mood was dark.

After a week at sea, the ship’s master gave the order for the convicts to be released from their irons. This allowed them to move independently around the cramped prison deck. Throughout the day they were led in small groups out to a barricaded area on the top deck, away from the rest of the occupants, to fill their lungs with fresh air and have a proper stretch. This was James’s favourite part of the day and his spirits rose each time he came on deck.13

Two convicts on the Scarborough, Phillip Farrell and Thomas Griffiths, were experienced sailors before being convicted for stealing and sentenced to seven years’ transportation. They planned to stage a mutiny by freeing the convicts, taking control of the ship, and quietly sailing away from the rest of the fleet at night when they wouldn’t be seen. Unfortunately for them, before they could organise support from other convicts, an informer betrayed them to the ship’s officers. They were taken to the Sirius where they were flogged, put in irons, and sent to the Prince of Wales.14

After twenty-one days sailing the Atlantic, on 3 June the fleet arrived at Tenerife in the Canary Islands, docking at the port of Santa Cruz. For the week of the fleet’s stay, the convicts were confined to the prison decks to prevent any escape. James and the other convicts did, however, enjoy fresh supplies of meat, bread, rice, vegetables, figs and mulberries that were brought from the mainland. Although life below deck was at times intolerable, a bond between the men developed as they buoyed each other’s moods with dreams of one day owning a farm and starting a family. One of these men, James Ruse, would be the first ex-convict granted land, in November 1789, by Governor Phillip.

On 10 June the fleet sailed south for the Cape Verde Islands off the west coast of Africa, and from there to Rio de Janeiro.

The conditions for the convicts worsened as the fleet neared the equator. The temperature and humidity rose and many convicts collapsed in the suffocating conditions. In addition to the lack of air, the smell from the bilge, a level below the prison deck, became unbearable. Urine, faeces, vomit, rotting food and dead rats, mixed with seawater, produced a putrid and overwhelming stench. Heavy tropical storms forced seawater down to the prisoners’ quarters, saturating their bedding. Dysentery was common, as was scurvy, which caused swollen, bleeding gums and aching joints. The daily water ration was warm and putrid.

Their miserable existence improved somewhat during July as the fleet continued south of the equator. The weather cleared and the humidity lessened. Concerned that disease could break out and sweep through the fleet, Phillip ordered the convicts on deck to dry their clothes and bedding. He arranged for gunpowder to be exploded and fires to be lit to purify the air, and regularly flushed the bilge to clear the effluent.15

Two months after leaving Tenerife, the fleet reached Rio de Janeiro on the coast of Brazil. A thirteen-gun salute welcomed the fleet and the Sirius responded in kind with its own salute.

With the ships anchored, the crew enjoyed the hospitality onshore, while the convicts sweltered below decks. The quantity and quality of the rations improved greatly for the convicts and they enjoyed fresh meat, vegetables and fruit, which also helped relieve the symptoms of scurvy. The fleet spent a month in Rio de Janeiro and the health on board improved. The ships were cleaned, repaired and resupplied with consumables, including 65,000 litres of rum, which was to last the rest of the voyage and the first few years of settlement.16

On 4 September the fleet weighed anchor and sailed for the Cape of Good Hope. The journey to the cape took thirty-nine days in frequent storms. Again the seas washed over the ships, seeping between the decks, waking the marines from their sleep and soaking the convicts and their quarters. On 13 October the ships dropped anchor at Table Bay, Cape of Good Hope, and the Sirius fired off thirteen guns in a show of respect, to which the fort replied with a signal that it was open.17

The fleet stayed at the Cape for a month and the convicts again enjoyed rations of fresh meat, bread, fruit and vegetables. While there, most of the marines were ordered to remain on the ships, which caused great disharmony. They drank heavily, argued, fought each other and bullied the convicts. On 20 October a brawl between the marines erupted on the Scarborough. This would have been highly entertaining for James and the other convicts and helped break the boredom of their stay.

Bulls, cows, sheep, pigs, horses, goats and poultry were brought onto the ships as well as large quantities of rice, wheat, barley, corn and a wide variety of plants and seeds. To make way for the hundreds of livestock, many convicts were moved from one ship to another, and their living conditions became still more crowded.18

On 13 November the ships set sail on the final and longest leg of the journey to Botany Bay. Taking more than two months, it proved to be the most arduous passage as the ships faced a constant wall of wind. Some livestock died from disease, and dysentery swept through the ships.

Phillip decided to send the Supply, Alexander, Friendship and Scarborough ahead of the other ships to prepare for the arrival of the rest of the fleet. Through December the fleet sailed the Great Southern Ocean where they encountered the strongest winds and roughest seas since leaving England’s shores. The convicts, cramped, wet and cold, were confined to the prison deck. As Christmas came the ships rounded the bottom of Van Diemen’s Land (Tasmania) and headed north to Botany Bay. More treacherous weather came, which slowed the pace of the ships to a crawl.

On 18 January 1788 the Supply was the first ship of the fleet to reach Botany Bay, followed the next day by the Alexander, Friendship and Scarborough. To everyone’s surprise, the rest of the fleet arrived intact the next day. It was remarkable, under the circumstances, that only about forty people died on the eight-month, 24,000-kilometre voyage. Most of the deaths occurred on the Alexander, seventeen of them before the fleet left England. All the convicts on the Scarborough survived. The high rate of survival was mainly due to Phillip’s diligence.19

With the eleven ships safely inside Botany Bay, James and the other wretches of English society were probably up on deck talking excitedly, laughing and singing as the sight revealed a great deal of grass and small trees covering the land with bush in the background.

The air they breathed was clean and fresh, and the light so blindingly bright that their eyes struggled to adjust. They were relieved and grateful to have survived the journey and to have arrived at such a beautiful place, but they were also apprehensive.

Several of the native inhabitants ran along the shore wielding their spears and joined a larger group of more than forty men all shouting and waving at the governor’s boats as they came to shore. Both parties were armed at their first meeting.

Several subsequent meetings between the British and the Eora (the local people) occurred, each with increasing friendliness and a degree of mutual respect. As the years passed, some of the new settlers continued to respect the original people. Yet there was no doubt in the minds of most settlers that they had to conform to British culture or face extinction. Unbeknown to the white settlers, the Eora had a complex system of laws that governed social relations, behaviour and resource use. Conflict between the two was inevitable.20

Watkin Tench, a lieutenant of the marine corps who eventually developed a close relationship with some of the Eora, saw the purpose of his relationship with them as first to win their affections, and then to convince them the Europeans were to be their superiors.21

Phillip decided Botany Bay was not a satisfactory place to settle, as it had poor anchorage and was exposed to the winds and swell. The land was marshy, there was a scarcity of fresh water, and the soil was very poor. On 21 January Phillip, Hunter, Captain David Collins and a small number of marines set out in three open boats to investigate Port Jackson and Broken Bay, two inlets to the north that Captain Cook had charted. They returned to Botany Bay on 23 January with news that Port Jackson lay within the finest harbour in the world and had far better anchorage and more fertile land. Phillip ordered that the fleet make ready to sail at once.

On 25 January, Phillip returned to Port Jackson in the Supply with a working party of convicts and marines. Hunter followed on 26 January with the rest of the fleet and, as they left Botany Bay, two French ships under the command of Marquis de la Perouse entered it. La Perouse had been on a voyage of scientific exploration since 1785 and had entered the bay in search of wood and water. A boat from the Sirius was sent to guide the French ships into the bay, and then the fleet sailed the two-hour journey to Port Jackson where it arrived late in the afternoon.

A small cove was chosen as the ideal spot for settlement and Phillip named it Sydney Cove after Baron Sydney, Thomas Townshend, who as home secretary in the Pitt government had appointed Phillip to the role of governor of New South Wales.
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In the evening Phillip’s working party assembled at the point where they had landed and, in front of a flag of the Union Jack, marines fired several volleys before the governor and officers toasted the health of His Majesty, the royal family and the success of the colony.22

On the morning of 27 January, the Scarborough convicts were ordered to gather up their clothing and bedding and carry them onto a waiting longboat. After a short row they gingerly stepped off the boat and onto land.

Now aged twenty-three, James had not touched land for eleven months, and had been living in hulks for nineteen months. Experiencing the fresh air, space and sounds of the dawn chorus emanating from within the bush must have felt like coming alive again.


Chapter Four

FIRST SETTLEMENT AT SYDNEY COVE

THE MARINES INSTRUCTED the convicts to find some ground on the east side of the freshwater Tank Stream and to build their own shelter. In relation to modern-day Sydney, the Tank Stream ran from a swamp in Hyde Park, down through waterfalls across Bridge Street, then out to Sydney Harbour.

The officers were supplied with marquees and the marines with tents, but no provision was made for the convicts apart from some old canvas, which they used with branches, leaves and clay to build suitable huts. That night sleep proved difficult as the ground was cold and hard, and ants and spiders crawled over them. The Eora viewed this hive of activity with suspicion and bewilderment, and kept a safe distance away.

The marines set up camp on the west side of the Tank Stream and the animals were moved to the adjacent Farm Cove. There was a flurry of activity on shore as convicts were ordered to fell trees, clear land and erect tents and marquees. A canvas house was erected for Phillip about fifty metres from the water on the east side of the cove. Phillip’s plan for the settlement included the construction of a hospital, observatory, fort and storehouses.

The marines refused to act as overseers of the convicts, so Phillip organised the convicts into gangs and appointed one of their number to oversee the work done.

Over the next few days, James and the other convicts cleared and broke ground for a garden and farm and planted fruit trees, including limes, lemons, oranges and figs. They also built huts for the women convicts.

The convicts were not used to manual labour, but as the days wore on some became tougher. Many probably collapsed from sunstroke and lack of water. The skin on their arms and legs was scratched from brambles in the bush. Their hands were soon covered in blisters from wielding the crude tools used to clear the ground. They were bitten by strange insects, spiders or worse, snakes.

Phillip ordered that convicts were to receive the same weekly rations – 7 pounds of salt beef or 4 pounds of pork, 3 pints of peas, 7 pounds of flour, 6 ounces of butter and half a pound of rice – as the marines, who complained bitterly to Phillip. The women were to receive two-thirds of this ration.

After waiting for twelve days on the ships, the female convicts were allowed onto land. Many were dressed in their best clothes and, when word got around that the women were on shore, the male convicts made their way over to greet them. Alcohol was brought in by the sailors and a wild party and orgy ensued throughout a stormy night.

As lightning lit up the ground around him and the sudden cracks of thunder sent him jumping for cover, James could not remember a wilder night. There was yelling and screaming, arguments and fights, singing and dancing, as the rain tumbled down.

The hung-over and weary convicts were rounded up early the next morning and led to an area on the east side of the cove. Collins introduced Phillip as the captain-general and governor-in-chief of New South Wales. Phillip then addressed the convicts and offered no promise of an easy life, saying that hard work and discipline would be required by all. Stealing of supplies and livestock would be punishable by death, and men were to be shot if they were found in women’s tents. They were to build houses, firstly for the officers, then the marines and finally themselves.23

Within days of Phillip’s warning, the convicts gathered to watch the colony’s first hanging of three convicts for the theft of butter, peas and pork from the storehouse. The hanging was to take place under a huge tree, to be known as the Hanging Tree, but at the last moment Phillip spared the men.

On Sunday many convicts made their way over to the east side of the cove to attend a service held by the settlement’s chaplain, Reverend Richard Johnson.

Johnson was an Anglican priest, and a member of the Eclectic Society, which was heavily influenced by the Wesleyan Church. Over the coming years Johnson performed baptisms, marriages and burials, attended executions and generally worked tirelessly for the struggling convicts. In the first weeks of settlement he married more than a dozen convict couples. The convicts mistakenly believed they would receive more rations and better conditions if they were married. When they realised their mistake, most of the marriages quickly dissolved.24

Phillip set up a criminal court and made Collins judge advocate. He ordered Lieutenant Philip King to sail on the Supply and set up a settlement on Norfolk Island.

Mid-February, the summer heat and dry winds hit the settlement for the first time, sapping the convicts’ energy. This was followed by wild storms, during which several sheep died in lightning strikes. Torrents of rainwater washed the convicts’ huts away. Scurvy, dysentery, sunstroke and snakebite sent many convicts to the tent hospital on the western side of the cove, and some to the grave.

The diminishing number of convicts able to work delayed building progress, which was otherwise slow due to only twelve of their number being skilled in carpentry. The wood of the abundant eucalyptus trees was too hard to be easily sawed. Timber from cabbage-tree palms was used instead, and their leaves were used for thatching. The brickworks, established a mile from Sydney Cove, had plenty of stone and clay for brickmaking, but not the lime used to bind the bricks together. The convict women made a small supply by crushing and burning oyster shells.

The first stone building to go up was the governor’s, which was finished eighteen months after arrival using English and locally made bricks and stone. It was situated on the corner of Bridge and Phillip streets in modern-day Sydney.

Many of the convicts proved hard to motivate, and the majority were either untrained or too old to be helpful. The marines were a disaffected and miserable group who adhered strictly to their orders to provide security and maintain order in the colony but refused to do anything else, including organise or supervise work gangs or sit on the criminal court. They complained that they had received harsher punishments than the convicts.

Sydney Cove was the traditional land of the Gadigal people of the Eora Nation. Many people from other clans visited around the settlement, but they all kept their distance. From what the settlers observed, they lived mainly on oysters, shellfish and vegetables, and the fish that they speared from their canoe and cooked on a small fire in the canoe. They lived in long, low bark huts and the men made canoes, fish-gigs, swords, shields, spears, throwing-sticks, clubs and hatchets, while the women made fishing-lines, hooks and nets.25

Dancing and singing were, as they continue to be, an important part of Eora culture. The bewildered settlers remarked that they had dances and songs for every occasion.

They had songs of war, of hunting, of fishing, for the rise and set of the sun, for rain, for thunder and for many other occasions. Their dance, full of seeming confusion, yet regular and systematic, their wild gesticulations and frantic distortions of body were calculated rather to terrify, than delight, a spectator.

The Gadigal men were naked, their torsos scarred, a thin bone pierced their nostrils and they were each missing a front tooth. They were very healthy, lean and masculine.26

The English government had instructed Phillip to have an open intercourse with the native population, to be kind and friendly, and to placate them if necessary. He would have instructed the convicts to follow this behaviour as well. However, the convicts saw the Eora as below them on the pecking order and trouble soon followed with the theft of weapons and fishing gear. Phillip punished the guilty convicts and the Eora took revenge when they caught an unsuspecting convict wandering alone in the bush. A relationship of distrust soon followed.27

The Bediagal or Bidjigal clan from the north side of Botany Bay became known for their retributive attacks in response to loss of land and fishing territories. Pemulwuy was a warrior and the leader of these people, and a passionate defender of his people’s rights. He had two distinctive physical features: a blemish in his eye and a clubbed foot. Over the next twelve years he led the combined resistance against colonisation.28

I’m sure James had a healthy respect for the Eora he encountered, and enjoyed watching them spear fish from their boats and seeing them dance and sing. He found that if he treated them kindly and with respect, it was reciprocated.

James was cautious not to explore too far into the bush as more than a dozen convicts had disappeared over the first months of settlement. Two men who were rush cutters were speared and had their skulls beaten in. A group of convicts who walked to Botany Bay in search of vegetables were chased and attacked by a large number of Eora men. Phillip, determined to pursue friendly relations with the Eora, and believing the convict men had provoked the attacks, did not pursue the attackers or seek retribution.29

Despite the challenging conditions, the colony took shape over the next six months as James and his fellow convicts built wooden storehouses, a hospital, military barracks, a blacksmith’s forge and a guardhouse. The convict huts were largely unchanged, but the convicts gathered more thatch to insulate them from the increasingly cool nights.

Poor soil quality impeded progress at Government Farm and gardens and the first harvests largely failed. Only eight acres of barley and fifteen acres of wheat and corn were grown in the first year. Some of the vegetables, such as cauliflower and French beans, were plentiful, as were strawberries. Most of the fruit trees were thriving though, in particular the oranges, apples, pears, figs and grapevines. Native herbs similar to spinach and parsley grew in the wild, but the quantities were insufficient to rely on for a regular supply. The most useful native plant was a vine from which a tea could be brewed. The colony’s rations were also supplemented with net-caught fish. At rare times, the day’s haul fed the entire colony, but the supply was unreliable. Occasionally kangaroo, emu or crow was on the menu.30

In May 1788 the Lady Penrhyn, Charlotte and Scarborough sailed from Port Jackson to England, via China, after being cleared of all their stores. James must have felt a strange mix of emotions to see this last link to his homeland, which from February 1787 had been his hateful prison for nearly a year, sail away.

To celebrate the birthday of King George III on 4 June 1788, the convicts received the day off. The Sirius and Supply each fired twenty-one guns at sunrise, one o’clock and sunset. Wood collected by the convicts over the previous two days was piled into a bonfire and the assembled crowd took great joy in watching it burn, each with a pint of grog in their hands. The band played and there was much singing and dancing. Phillip joined the crowd at the bonfire where he was given three loud huzzahs!

In July 1788 the Alexander, Prince of Wales, Friendship and Borrowdale headed out of the harbour for England.

In the eight months since settlement fifty-two men, women and children had died, most of them convicts. By the following month, October 1788, the colony was short of food and the people were hungry. The poor soil had caused many of the crops to fail and people had fallen sick with scurvy and dysentery. The animals that had come with the fleet had not fared well either. A bull and several cows had wandered into the bush (to reappear a few years later), the sheep had not acclimatised well and their numbers had dwindled, and the chickens and young pigs had been attacked by dingoes. Only the mature pigs were thriving in their new surroundings.

Rations of flour were cut by one pound. Phillip sent the Sirius to the Cape of Good Hope on an emergency mission to bring back wheat seed and as much flour as the ship could stow.

Rations, which were issued weekly, were often consumed within three or four days, leaving many people to either go hungry or resort to stealing from other convicts. Anyone caught stealing was shamed by having to wear a canvas frock, and any convict unwilling to work received only two-thirds of their rations. As food supplies dwindled, theft became rampant in the colony and Phillip was forced to execute the guilty. The small settlement was shocked when six marines were hanged for the theft of flour, meat, spirits, tobacco and many other articles from the stores over the preceding eight months.31

In November 1788 the last ships of the First Fleet, the Golden Grove and Fishburn, left Port Jackson. This left the Supply, a tiny 150-ton, 70-foot brig with a carrying capacity of fifty persons, as the only vessel in the colony. It was unnerving for the officers to see their last opportunity to leave the colony sail away without knowing when the next may appear, but it would have meant little to James, since he knew he was serving a seven-year sentence. He and others may already have been considering staying permanently in the colony. James was no doubt aware that he had less than four years of his sentence to serve.

At this time Phillip decided to establish a new settlement further inland at the end of the harbour, sixteen miles (twenty-six kilometres) from Sydney Cove. Initially named Rose Hill by Phillip, he later changed it back to something akin to its original Dharug name, Parramatta. The colony had great hopes for the more fertile soil of this place.

In late 1788 the Eora became more persistent in their attacks on the settlement and its inhabitants. Having failed in his many attempts to befriend any of them, Phillip took a desperate gamble. Parting somewhat from the instructions he’d received to maintain ‘kind and friendly relations’ with the native population, he ordered his marines to capture and bring to him one man among their number. Phillip believed that through showing this man the benefits of European civilisation, he could win him over and this would help to improve relations between the two groups.

When the howling and agitated man arrived in the settlement on 31 December from Manly (so named by Phillip because of the ‘manly’ appearance of the native men he saw there), a large crowd formed. They curiously watched the prisoner, whose name they eventually learned to be Arabanoo, being led away and secured by ropes to the governor’s residence.

Everything was done to make Arabanoo feel welcome and at ease. He was given a bath in a tub of water and soap, a haircut, and his beard was shaved. He was dressed in a shirt, jacket and trousers and dined with the governor at night. But to prevent his escape, he was handcuffed with a rope attached to it. At first he was delighted, as he thought he had been given an ornament to wear, but when he realised its true intent he was enraged. Arabanoo was to spend another four months in the governor’s confinement. It is not known what James and his fellow convicts would have thought as they witnessed the governor’s human experiment unfold.32

In April a large number of Eora became infected with smallpox. While the disease did not attack the settlers, the original people died in their thousands. To the grief of those in the settlement who had come to know and admire him over the four and a half months of his stay, Arabanoo also died from the disease.33


Chapter Five

A STRUGGLING COLONY

ON A SULTRY FEBRUARY afternoon in 1789 James was probably weary and hungry from a hard day’s work, his mood low from the constant grind. As he dragged himself past a bored sentinel, the guard yelled at him to get a move on. James, without thinking, replied with an insult of his own, to which the guard took offence.

James was taken into custody, and on 23 February 1789 he found himself charged with insolence to a sentinel and appearing before Judge Advocate Collins, who sentenced him to twenty-five lashes. He was taken from the courthouse, tied to a tree and struck with a short whip, made up of nine strands of leather, knotted along its length. A small crowd gathered around James as he acutely felt the sting of each blow. On the fourth or fifth blow he felt his skin break and blood slowly trickle from his back, over his buttocks, down his legs and finally cup in his shoes. James gave a low grunt as each blow struck, but was mindful not to cry out. With the final blow he was untied and sent back to work. It is likely that he went to the hospital the next day to have his back washed and some lard applied to help with the healing.34

By April 1789 the convicts had built roads to the hospital and storehouses as well as barracks for the marines, and were constructing stables at Farm Cove and a guardhouse. The settlement’s spirit lifted in May 1789 with news that the Sirius had returned from the Cape of Good Hope bringing flour and salt, and the first news from the outside world in eighteen months. Unfortunately, the supplies on the Sirius brought only short-term relief to the colony’s stores.

Phillip led an expedition to further explore the waterways of the harbour and beyond in the hope of finding an inland passage to a massive mountain range that they had named the Blue Mountains. The explorers followed Cook’s chart to the inlet of Broken Bay where they ‘discovered’ the freshwater Hawkesbury and Nepean rivers.

While store ships were expected to arrive from England by the end of January 1790, with only five months’ provisions remaining at the end of October, Phillip thought it prudent to reduce rations by one-third.

Lack of farming experience, rotten seeds and rats led to the failure of Government Farm’s first harvest at Farm Cove in November, and the entire yield of barley was used for seed. The harvest at Rose Hill fared much better due to the superior soil quality and its yield of 200 bushels of wheat, 35 bushels of barley and small quantities of oats and Indian corn justified the decision to settle there. Theft from the gardens remained rife and warning shots from the guards failed to deter the thieves, who were for the most part convicts, but occasionally a marine would be seen as well. Some well-behaved convicts were selected as nightwatchmen and patrolled the settlement throughout the night.35

Several months after the death of Arabanoo, two more Eora men were captured by the marines and brought back to Sydney Cove so Phillip could learn more from them about the surrounding country, their language and their culture. One of these men, Woollarawarre Bennelong, was from the Wangal clan and the other, Colby, from the Gadigal clan. While Colby resisted the overtures and made good on one of his many escape attempts, Bennelong remained in the settlement. He wore the clothes he was given and became Phillip’s constant companion, living for a time in a house the convicts were instructed to build for him at what is now known as Bennelong Point, the site of the Sydney Opera House. Quick to learn English, Bennelong provided insights into his people’s customs and acted as mediator between the two peoples.36

In light of the harsh conditions, it was a testament to Phillip’s skilful governorship that by February 1790 only seventy-two of the settlers had died, with fifty-nine children born in the two years since arriving.

The heavy rains and wild winds returned and again destroyed many of the convicts’ huts. The rain continued through March, flooding much of the settlement.

A lookout and flagpole were erected on South Head in the growing expectation of the arrival of the Second Fleet. Phillip sent Major Ross with the Sirius to China for supplies. As Norfolk Island was on the way, he ordered Ross to take 116 male and 67 female convicts, 27 children, two companies of marines and supplies with him. Ross was to replace King as commandant. Ross and the Sirius were to be accompanied to Norfolk Island by another ship, the Supply. Phillip thought that if rations at Sydney finally ran out, the convicts would have a better chance of surviving off the land at Norfolk Island.

In March 1790, after the Supply failed to return on time, Phillip cut rations again to less than half the original ration quantity two years before. Convicts received their rations daily from this point and Phillip reduced their working hours in recognition that they were not eating enough to work a full day.

James, like the other convicts, was close to despair. The food provided was of such poor quality that it was hardly worth eating. He knew he had to push on through and not give up. He rose at daylight and worked through until one o’clock, with a short break for breakfast. In the afternoon, he picked up his daily rations and tended his small garden. At night he might have prayed for a final and quick outcome, either with the arrival of a ship from England or a peaceful way out.

With the colony in jeopardy, the spirit of the people was low. Many, including the officers and the marines, were starving, fatigued and listless. Crime was rampant, even with the measures in place to protect the gardens. Lieutenant Watkin Tench wrote:

Famine besides was approaching with gigantic strides, and gloom and dejection overspread every countenance. Men abandoned themselves to the most desponding reflections and the most extravagant conjectures.37

In early April 1790, Phillip’s fears were realised when the Supply limped into the harbour with news that the colony’s flagship, the Sirius, had sunk off Norfolk Island. There was no loss of life, but it was the loss of a lifeline. Phillip immediately sent the Supply to Batavia, which was the capital of the Dutch East Indies, to hire a ship and return with beef, pork, flour, rice and other supplies. He expected the Supply to return in six months. The hope of the colony now rested on this tiny ship.38

Phillip ordered an account of the provisions in the store. It showed there was enough meat for three months, flour for five months, and rice for six months. Phillip added his private stores to the common stock and cut rations for the second time in a week. The pork was four years old and halved in size when boiled, while in Tench’s words, the rice was ‘a moving body, given the inhabitants lodged within it.’ The successful vegetable crops at Rose Hill gave the colony some relief from the state of famine, and every boat they owned was on the harbour, fishing day and night.39

Bennelong had lived in the settlement for five months and was proving an embarrassment because of his great appetite for food when rations were at their lowest. Bennelong escaped and went back to his people. Although Phillip was disappointed with the news, he no longer had the strength to do anything about it.40


Chapter Six

SAVED BY THE SECOND FLEET

ON 3 JUNE 1790, two months after the Supply had left for Batavia, the flag on South Head flew as the Lady Juliana sailed into the harbour. She was the first of five ships of the Second Fleet to arrive from England. The colony was saved.

Everyone, including Phillip, gathered on the shores to watch the vessel’s arrival. James and his friends hugged each other, laughing, crying and thanking God for their salvation. Desperate for news from home, people were stunned to learn about the overthrow of the monarchy in France and interested to hear about King George III’s recovery from a mental illness.

The Lady Juliana had made the voyage in almost eleven months. She carried about 222 convict women, who were in a surprisingly healthy state after such a long journey in cramped conditions. Only five had died on the way, a comparatively low number.

Public labour was suspended for the day and a well-attended church service was held. Reverend Richard Johnson gave a sermon full of gratitude and solemnity. The mood of the colony was, however, tempered with the news that the Lady Juliana had not brought abundant supplies.41

Throughout the journals of my ancestors, there is a strong religious element as they recounted their stories. I wonder whether James, having fallen to the lowest depths of despair, and with his prayers answered with the arrival of the Lady Juliana, made a pledge to himself that he would promote the words of the Lord at every opportunity.

It is likely that James went to the wharf to assist the convicts disembark, and was also curious to see what condition they were in. Having not yet found a partner, his heart must have leapt when he realised that the new arrivals were all women.

The Lady Juliana brought news that the supply ship the Guardian, which was to have arrived in the colony three months earlier, had struck an iceberg near the Cape of Good Hope.

Three weeks later the colony’s prayers were answered with the arrival of a store ship, the Justinia, which had taken only five months to travel from England. The Surprize, the Neptune and James’s old ship the Scarborough arrived over the next few days with 300 members of the New South Wales Marine Corps. Of the 1,038 convicts who had embarked from England, only 636 were still alive.

Many of the newly arrived convicts were suffering from scurvy and dysentery, and hundreds of them were taken directly off the ship to the hospital. Others died as they came up from the decks below, on the boats as they rowed to shore, or on the wharf as they were lifted out of the boats. The British government had entered into contracts with transport companies to pay them seventeen pounds sterling per convict. Once paid, the transport companies showed little interest in keeping the convicts healthy for the journey. In historian John Molony’s words, ‘The Second Fleet was the cruellest and most inhumane episode of the whole epoch of transportation, and its origin lay in the utter neglect of the English authorities.’42

Full weekly rations were reinstated, the drum for labour beat at one o’clock in the afternoon as usual and a buoyant mood swept through the colony as some convicts unloaded stores of beef and pork from the transport ships. Others were building a new brick storehouse and a road from the brickworks to the town, as well as barracks, wharf, barn, granary, blacksmith’s shop and hospital. There was a great deal of building going on and it is likely that James was assigned to a work gang at one of these sites. Convicts with some carpentry or building experience acted as overseers for the project, so it can be assumed that the convicts were treated with respect and they in turn cooperated with whatever orders were given. It was back-breaking work for James, who may have preferred his previous jobs establishing Government Farm and its gardens or fishing.43

James’s life would have been much more routine and ordered now that the colony was nearly two and a half years old. His sleeping quarters would have been sturdier, and his bedding more comfortable. He struck up friendships with his fellow convicts and together they would have shared many jobs to make life easier for themselves. He started to think more about being a free man again, which was now only two years’ wait. He longed for an intimate relationship but at this point he had nothing to offer. There were six male convicts for every female, and more often than not a female convict sought the company of a marine before considering a convict. James felt that once he was free and qualified for a 30-acre land grant by the government he would have something to offer.

The healthy convicts from the Second Fleet were settled at Rose Hill where thirty-two houses for the male convicts lined a mile-long street, each able to house ten people. Made from clay plaster and timber from the wattle tree with thatched roofs, each house measured 24 by 12 feet, and had two rooms and a fireplace. Houses for women and huts for the convict families, who were encouraged to establish gardens around them, were in the cross street.

In September 1790, a small party including Captain Nepean of the New South Wales Corps, Surgeon White, Nanbaree (an Eora boy) and others were heading overland to Broken Bay when they spotted Bennelong and Colby with a group of Eora at Manly. Knowing that Phillip wished to be reacquainted with Bennelong, Nepean sent word back to the settlement.44

Arriving at Manly with his men, Phillip was confronted by a large and agitated group of men, including Bennelong, and was speared in the shoulder by a man called Wileemarin. The marines fired at the group as Phillip was carried to the boats and hurriedly rowed back to Sydney Cove. He had lost a lot of blood by the time they reached Sydney Cove, yet he was fortunate the spear missed an artery as that would have certainly killed him. He recovered slowly, and to his credit did not order any retaliation or harbour any resentment.

A few months later Pemulwuy speared and mortally wounded Phillip’s gamekeeper, John McIntyre, while McIntyre was out hunting with a marine sergeant and three convicts around Botany Bay. The Eora despised McIntyre because he had broken Indigenous hunting laws and behaved violently. Phillip, who had been conciliatory with the Eora until now, changed his approach and ordered fifty men to find Pemulwuy and make an example by killing ten and capturing two of his people. The raid proved unsuccessful, though, as Pemulwuy and his tribe had fled south.45

In October 1790, the Supply returned from Batavia with a cargo that was now surplus to need. A Dutch ship, the Waaksamheyd, hired by the Supply in Batavia, arrived in December 1790, bringing a lot of rice and smaller amounts of beef, pork, flour and sugar.

Drought caused the colony’s second harvest to be as poor as the first and, as a consequence, the government abandoned Farm Cove. At Rose Hill, 200 acres were cleared for cultivation and the government’s hopes of sustainable agriculture rested there.
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